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This is a matter of national importance. The United States, through the Special Counsel’s
Office (“SCO”), is investigating foreign interference in the 2016 presidential election and
potential collusion in those efforts by American citizens. The SCO has uncovered evidence that
Target 1, who was associated with the campaign of one presidential candidate—now the
President—and Target 2, who was Target 1’s employee (collectively, “the Targets™) at Target
Company, may have concealed from the government the extent of their lobbying actions on
behalf of a foreign government and foreign officials, in violation of federal criminal laws, by
submitting two letters through their former counsel, the Witness, containing false and misleading
information to the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”).! The SCO seeks to compel the Witness
to testify before a grand jury regarding limited aspects of her legal representation of the Targets,

which testimony the SCO believes will reveal whether the Targets intentionally misled DOJ

! For the purposes of this opinion, “Target 1” refers to Paul J. Manafort, Jr., “Target 2 refers to Richard W.

Gates, “Target Company” is DMP International, LLC, and “the Witness” is , an attorney at
S S O's Motion to Compel (SCO Mot at T ECT No. |
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about their work on behalf of a foreign government and foreign officials. The Witness has
refused to testify unless directed by a court order, due to professional ethical obligations, because
the Targets have invoked their attorney-client and work-product privileges. The SCO posits that
the crime-fraud exception to both privileges applies and, alternatively, that the Targets have
waived the attorney-client privilege to the extent of disclosures made in the submissions to DOJ,
and that the work-product privilege is here overcome by a showing of adequate reasons to
compel the Witness’s testimony.

The attorney-client and work-product privileges play vital roles in the American legal
system, by encouraging persons to consult freely and candidly with counsel, and counsel to
advocate vigorously on their clients’ behalves, without fear that doing so may expose a client to
embarrassment or further legal jeopardy. The grand jury, however, is an essential bedrock of
democracy, ensuring the peoples’ direct and active participation in determining who must stand
trial for criminal offenses. ‘“Nowhere is the public’s claim to each person’s evidence stronger
than in the context of a valid grand jury subpoena.” In re Sealed Case, 676 F.2d 793, 806 (D.C.
Cir. 1982) (citing Branzburg v. Hayes, 408 U.S. 665, 688 & n.26 (1972)). When a person uses
the attorney-client relationship to further a criminal scheme, the law is well established that a
claim of attorney-client or work-product privilege must yield to the grand jury’s investigatory
needs.

Based on consideration of the factual proffers made by the SCO, as well as the arguments
articulated by the SCO, the privilege holders and the Witness over multiple filings and three
hearings held during the past two weeks, the Court finds that the SCO has made a sufficient
prima facie showing that the crime-fraud exception to the attorney-client and work-product

privileges applies. Additionally, the Targets have impliedly waived the attorney-client privilege



concerning their communications with the Witness to the extent those communications formed
the basis of the disclosed text of the Witness’s letters to DOJ. Finally, the SCO overcomes any
work-product privilege by showing that the testimony sought from the Witness is necessary to
uncover criminal conduct and cannot be obtained through other means. Thus, the SCO may
compel the Witness to testify as to the specific matters delineated more fully below.
L. BACKGROUND

On May 17, 2017, Acting Attorney General Rod Rosenstein appointed Robert S. Mueller
111 to serve as Special Counsel for the United States Department of Justice.> U.S. Dep’t of
Justice, Order No. 3915-2017, Appointment of Special Counsel to Investigate Russian
Interference with the 2016 Presidential Election and Related Matters (May 17, 2017), available
at https://www .justice.gov/opa/press-release/file/967231/download. The Special Counsel was
authorized to conduct an investigation into “(i) any links and/or coordination between the
Russian government and individuals with the campaign of President Donald Trump; and (ii) any
matters that arose or may arise directly from the investigation; and (iii) any other matters within
the scope of 28 C.F.R. § 600.4(a).” 1d.

As part of its investigation, the Special Counsel’s Office (“SCO”) is scrutinizing
representations made by the Witness in two letters submitted in November 2016 and February
2017 respectively, on behalf of her clients, the Targets, to the Foreign Agent Registration Act’s

(“FARA”) Registration Unit of DOJ’s National Security Division. SCO’s Motion to Compel

2 Deputy Attorney General Rod Rosenstein served as Acting Attorney General for the purposes of the

Special Counsel appointment due to Attorney General Jeff Sessions’ recusal “from any existing or future
investigations of any matters related in any way to the campaigns for President of the United States” in 2016. Press
Release, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Attorney General Sessions Statement on Recusal (Mar. 2, 2017), available at
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/attorney-general-sessions-statement-recusal.
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(Sept. 19, 2017) (“SCO Mot.”) at 1, ECF No. 1. The factual background pertinent to this matter
is summarized first before turning to the relevant procedural history.

A. Factual Background

1. The Targets’ Work on Behalf of Ukraine’s Party of Regions

On September 13, 2016, Heather H. Hunt, the Chief of the FARA Registration Unit,
wrote separately to Target Company and Target 1, noting that “[nJumerous published sources
raise questions” that Target Company and Target 1 may have engaged in activities on behalf of
the European Centre for a Modern Ukraine (“ECFMU”), the Ukrainian government, the
Ukrainian Party of Regions, or other foreign entities, thus requiring registration under FARA.
See Target 1’s Opp’n to SCO Mot. (Sept. 25, 2017) (“Target 1 Opp’n”), Ex. A, DOJ Requests to
Target 1 (Sept. 13,2016), ECF No. 9. Ms. Hunt requested that Target 1 and Target Company
provide documents and information for review and, shortly thereafter, Target 1 retained the
Witness as counsel for the purposes of responding to these requests. Target 1 Opp’n at 2.

2. The 2016 and 2017 FARA Submissions to DOJ

The SCO has advised that the information sought from the Witness focuses on two
letters, dated November 23, 2016 and February 10, 2017, respectively, that the Witness sent to
the FARA Registration Unit on behalf of her clients, Target Company, Target 1, and Target 2.
SCO Mot. at 1. The November 23, 2016 letter explained that Target Company is a “single-
member, wholly-owned, limited liability company . . . controlled by [Target 1],” that engaged in
political consulting, for both foreign and domestic clients, and provided “strategic guidance on
democratic election processes, campaign management, and electoral integrity.” Target 2’s
Opp’n to SCO Mot. (Sept. 20, 2017) (“Target 2 Opp’n”), Ex. C, Letter from Witness to Heather

H. Hunt, Chief, FARA Registration Unit, Nat’l Security Div., U.S. Dep’t of Justice (Nov. 23,



2016) (“2016 FARA Submission™) at 1, ECF No. 3. As to ECFMU, the submission stated that
Target Company, Target 1, and Target 2 “did not have an agreement to provide services to the
ECFMU,” and “[flurthermore, my Clients were not counterparties to any service agreement(s)
between [two government relations companies (“GR Company 1 and “GR Company 2”°)] and
the ECFMU.” Id. According to the submission, a “search ha[d] been conducted for
correspondence containing additional information related to the matters described in” the FARA
Registration Unit’s inquiries, but “as a result of [Target Company’s] Email Retention Policy,
which does not retain communications beyond thirty days, the search . . . returned no responsive
communications.” 1d.> A copy of that written policy was enclosed in the November 2016 letter.
Id.

The Witness wrote a more fulsome explanation of her clients’ work on behalf of the Party
of Regions in the second FARA submission on February 10, 2017. According to that
submission, Target Company, along with Target 1 and Target 2, were “engaged by the Party of
Regions to provide strategic advice and services in connection with certain of the Party’s
Ukrainian and European-facing political activities.” SCO Mot., Ex. A, Letter from Witness to
Heather H. Hunt, Chief, FARA Registration Unit, Nat’l Security Div., U.S. Dep’t of Justice
(Feb. 10,2017) (“2017 FARA Submission”) at 1, ECF No. 1. The submission continued by
describing the “scope of this work™ as consisting “of two principal components: (1) [Target

Company] provided assistance in managing the Party of Regions’ party building activities and

3 The Targets rely on Target Company’s Email Retention Policy to advance an argument that, to the extent

the Witness’s letters to DOJ on their behalves materially omit or misstate facts, these failings occurred due to
imperfect memory, unaided by contemporaneous emails which could have refreshed their recollection. See Nov. 23
Ltr. at 1-2 (“we are seeking to determine whether there are alternative sources of such information that would assist
in ensuring that any responses are complete and accurate.”). As discussed more fully, infra, this argument is belied
by evidence gathered by the SCO.



assisted in the development of its overall party strategy and political agenda, including election
planning and implementation of the Party’s political plan; and (2) [Target Company] provided
counsel and advice on a number of policy areas that were relevant to the integration of Ukraine
as a modern state into the European community.” Id.

Despite this scope of work, the 2017 FARA Submission downplayed Target Company’s
U.S. activities for the Party of Regions. In particular, the 2017 FARA Submission stated that
Target Company’s “efforts on behalf of the Party of Regions and Opposition bloc did not include
meetings or outreach within the U.S.” 1d. at 2. Further, the 2017 FARA Submission minimized
any relationship between the Targets and the ECFMU, stating that “neither [Target Company]
nor [Target 1 or Target 2] had any agreement with the ECFMU to provide services.” 1d. While
Target Company provided the ECFMU “with a list of potential U.S.-based consultants,” the 2017
FARA Submission states that ECFMU “contracted directly with” GR Company 1 and GR
Company 2. Id. Further, the 2017 FARA Submission indicates that Target 2 “recall[ed]”
interacting with ECFMU’s consultants “regarding efforts in the Ukraine and Europe,” but neither
Target 1 nor Target 2 “recall[ed] meeting with or conducting outreach to U.S. government
officials or U.S. media outlets on behalf of the ECFMU, nor do they recall being party to,
arranging, or facilitating any such communications.” Id. Instead, the 2017 FARA Submission
explained that Target 1 and Target 2 recalled that any “such communications would have been
facilitated and conducted by the ECFMU’s U.S. consultants, as directed by the ECFMU,

pursuant to the agreement reached between those parties (to which [Target Company] was not a

party).” 1d. at 2-3.



3. The Targets Register Under FARA

On June 27, 2017, the Witness made another submission to DOJ on behalf of her clients,
the Targets, in response to “guidance and assistance offered by the FARA Registration Unit in
this matter.” Target 2 Opp’n, Ex. E, Letter from Witness to Heather H. Hunt, Chief, FARA
Registration Unit, Nat’l Security Div., U.S. Dep’t of Justice (June 27, 2017) at 1, ECF No. 3.
While stating that the “Clients’ primary focus was directed at domestic Ukrainian political work,
consistent with our discussions, we understand that the FARA Registration Unit has taken the
position that certain of the activities conducted and/or contacts made by my Clients between
2012 and 2014 constituted registerable activity under FARA.” 1d. Accordingly, the submission
states that the Targets “submitted the registration and supplemental statements with respect to
their activities on behalf of the Party of Regions.” Id.

4. The Grand Jury Subpoenas to the Witness

On August 18, 2017, a subpoena was issued, as part of the SCO’s investigation, for the
Witness’s testimony before the grand jury. See Target 2 Opp’n at 2; Hr’g Tr. (Sept. 20, 2017)
(“Sept. 20 Tr.”) at 12:24-25, ECF No. 8. In the discussions that ensued, the Targets, through
counsel, asserted to the Witness’s counsel and the SCO “the protections of attorney-client
privilege, attorney work product doctrine, the Rules of Professional Conduct,” including “those
addressing client-lawyer confidentiality and duty of loyalty.” Target 2 Opp’n at 2.

The SCO responded to the objections raised by Target 2’s counsel in a letter, dated
September 11, 2017, outlining both the scope of the questions to be posed to the Witness and the
bases for the government’s position that the information sought by those questions is not
shielded by the attorney-client privilege or the work product doctrine. Target 2 Opp’n, Ex. B,

SCO Letter to Target 2 (Sept. 11, 2017) at 1, ECF No. 3. Further, the SCO argued that even if



the communications at issue were initially protected, those privileges “would be overcome by the
crime-fraud exception.” Id.

With respect to the planned questions to the Witness before the grand jury, the SCO
stated that the witness would be asked “narrow questions to confirm the source of the facts she
submitted to the government, including whether her clients gave her the information represented
in the letter as coming from them and/or reviewed a draft of the letter for accuracy.” Id.

With respect to the Targets’ invocation of attorney-client privilege, the SCO set out
several bases for why the Targets’ communications with the Witness underlying the 2017 FARA
Submission were not protected. First, the SCO expressed the view that the communications were
not privileged to begin with because the submission “expressly and repeatedly attributed the
information to her clients” and “[t]hat sourcing makes clear that the [submission was] intended to
convey information from her clients,” such that “the underlying communications were intended
to be revealed to the government.” 1d. at 1-2. Second, “[e]ven if the privilege initially attached,
the [Witness’s] letter waived it” because the submission’s contents did “more than simply
present facts that were likely learned from clients; it attributes many of these facts to the
‘recollections’ and ‘understandings’ of named clients,” “[a]nd because the letter did so to benefit
the clients in their interactions with the FARA Unit, waiver would be implied based on objective
considerations of fairness.” Id. at 2. Third, the SCO dismissed the applicability of the work-
product doctrine, stating that the doctrine did “not apply at all to the issue of whether [the
Witness] showed her clients the [2017 FARA Submission] before submitting it to DOJ.” Id. at 3.
“Just as asking a lawyer whether she provided her client a document given to her by the
government does not seek protected work product,” the SCO continued, “neither does asking the

lawyer whether she showed the client a document that the lawyer had drafted for submission to



the government.” 1d. (internal citation omitted). Additionally, the SCO asserted that “[t]he same
is true for the source of factual representations in the [2017 FARA Submission] about the
recollections and understandings of named individual clients,” because “[t]he work product
doctrine does not shield ‘factual confirmation concerning events the attorney personally
witnessed,” including ‘as the receiver . . . of information.”” Id. (citing In re Grand jury
Proceedings, 616 F.3d 1172, 1185 (10th Cir. 2010) and 8 Charles Alan Wright & Mary Kay
Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure § 2023 (3d ed. 2017)). The SCO emphasized that it was
not seeking the Witness’s “witness interview notes or to probe which witnesses she believed.”

Id. at 4. Rather, the SCO was “just seeking to confirm that the source of the factual
representations is what it purports to be: the clients’ recollections.” Id.

Finally, the SCO stated that the crime-fraud exception to attorney-client privilege applied
to the testimony sought from the Witness since “[t]he information known to the government
establishes a prima facie showing that [the Targets] violated federal law by making materially
false statements and misleading omissions to the FARA Unit,” including violations of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1001(a) (false statements to the federal government); 22 U.S.C. § 618(a)(2) (false or
misleading statements and omissions “in any . . . document filed with or furnished to the
Attorney General under” FARA), and 18 U.S.C. § 2(b) (willfully causing another to commit a
criminal act). Id. at 5-6. In particular, the SCO pointed to specific text in the 2017 FARA
Submission that contained either “false statements or misleading omissions,” id., bolstering this
assertion with general information about the nature of the contradictory evidence gathered. In
particular, the 2017 FARA Submission contained: (1) a statement that “misrepresented the
relationship among [the Targets], the Ukrainian government, the European Centre for a Modern

Ukraine (ECFMU), and two U.S. lobbying firms [(‘GR Company 1 and GR Company 2”)],” id.



at 6, as shown by “[d]ocumentary evidence and witness testimony [] that both [Target 1 and
Target 2] played a materially different role than these representations describe and that they
knew so at the time they conveyed their alleged recollections to counsel,” id.; (2) a statement that
neither Target 2 nor Target 1 “recall[ed] meeting with or conducting outreach to U.S.
government officials or U.S. media outlets on ECFMU, nor do they recall being party to,
arranging, or facilitating any such communications,” id. (quoting Feb. 10 Letter at 2), which was
demonstrably contrary to “evidence establish[ing] that [Target 2], on his own and on behalf of
[Target 1], engaged in weekly and at times daily calls and emails with [GR Company 1 and GR
Company 2] to provide them directions as to specific lobbying steps that should be taken and to
receive reports back as to the results of such lobbying,” id.; (3) statements regarding the Targets’
relationship with the GR Companies, which “convey[ed] to the FARA Unit that [Target 1] and
[Target 2] had merely played matchmaker between the U.S. consultants ((GR Company 1 and
GR Company 2]) and ECFMU,” which was contrary to “evidence show[ing] that [Target 1 and
Target 2] solicited [GR Company 2 and GR Company 1] to represent the Ukraine and directed
their work,” id. (citing Omnicare, Inc. v. Laborers Dist. Council Constr. Indus. Pension Fund,
135 S. Ct. 1318, 1329 (2015) (an omission can make a statement misleading under securities
laws)), and “the FARA violations were part of a sustained scheme to hide funds in violation of
the applicable money laundering and tax statutes, among others,” id.; and (4) the statement
“represent[ing] that there were no documents to refresh recollections because of an alleged
[Target Company] corporate policy on document retention,” was not consistent with the

b (13

government’s “evidence to prove otherwise,” id. at 67 (internal citation omitted).

10



B. Procedural History

In a letter, dated September 19, 2017, the Witness’s counsel stated that the Witness was
“committed to complying with the grand jury subpoena directed to her for testimony” but only to
the extent such compliance was “within the bounds of her ethical obligations to her former
clients, [Target 2 and Target 1].” Letter from Witness’s Counsel to SCO (Sept. 19, 2017) at 1,
Ex. B, SCO Mot., ECF No. 1. Relying on American Bar Association Formal Opinion #473,
counsel for the Witness stated that the Witness was “ethically bound not to disclose any attorney-
client communications, even after receiving a grand jury subpoena, based on any reasonable
grounds articulated by the client, absent a Court Order,” and that, in this matter, her clients had
directed the Witness “not to respond to those questions by invoking the privilege.” Id.

That same day, the SCO moved to compel the Witness’s testimony, relying on three
theories. SCO Mot. at 1. First, the SCO asserts a so-called “conduit theory,” under which the
communications at issue are not covered by the attorney-client privilege because the clients
provided information to the Witness with the expectation and understanding that the Witness
would convey that information to the government. SCO Mot. at 2 (citing United States v.
(Under Seal), 748 F.2d 871, 875 (4th Cir. 1984); United States v. Tellier, 255 F.2d 441, 447 (2d
Cir. 1958). Second, the SCO argues that even if attorney-client privilege attached, the FARA
Submissions impliedly waived the privilege when information was voluntarily disclosed to the
government, and that the work product privilege is overcome by a showing of substantial need.
Id. at 2-3. Finally, the SCO asserts that the crime-fraud exception applies to the Targets’
assertion of attorney-client privilege, because the communications at issue “were made with an
‘intent’ to ‘further a crime, fraud or other misconduct.”” 1d. at 3 (citing United States v. White,

887 F.2d 267, 271 (D.C. Cir. 1989)).
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That same day, the Court held a hearing with counsel from the SCO and for the Witness.
See Minute Entry (Sept. 19, 2017).* A second hearing was held on September 20, 2017 for the
purpose of hearing from Target 1 and Target 2, as the privilege holders, in opposition to the
SCO’s motion. At the second hearing, the SCO summarized the scope of questions to be posed
to the Witness before the grand jury:

The gist is, basically, we’re trying to tie the statements in [the Witness’s] letters,

one in February of 2017, one in November of 2016 to her various clients. The

letters are written on behalf of [Target Company, Target 1, and Target 2]. We’re

trying to understand who the source of those statements were. . . . [I]n some

instances, statements are attributed to [Target 2] [him or herself]; but, certainly,

we’d also want to ask if all the clients reviewed letters for the purposes of accuracy

before it was submitted. So that’s the gist.
Sept. 20 Tr. at 12:7-17. At the conclusion of this hearing, the government was directed to
submit any written proffer supporting application of the crime-fraud exception to the attorney-
client privilege as well as to address the scope of questions to be posed to the Witness. 1d. at
29:18-25. Counsels for Target 1 and Target 2 were also given an opportunity to supplement
their prior submissions. Id. at 30:4-5.

The Targets subsequently “engaged in discussions” with the SCO regarding the

Witness’s testimony. Target 2’s Suppl. Opp’n to SCO Mot. (Sept. 25, 2017) (“Suppl. Target 2

4 At the September 19, 2017 hearing, the Witness’s counsel asserted that the SCO had taken the position that
the privilege holders lacked standing to move to quash a subpoena “unless and until a motion to compel is filed.”
Hr’g Tr. (Sept. 19, 2017) (“Sept. 19 Tr.”) at 11:8—-10. The SCO responded by making clear that the SCO had no
objection to the privilege holders’ counsel “being heard on behalf of their clients, given the fact that the privilege is
theirs. The Special Counsel’s office doesn’t object to that.” Id. at 14:15-19. Here, the Targets seck to assert their
personal right to attorney-client and work-product privilege, and neither the SCO nor the Witness’s counsel objected
to the Targets’ right to be heard. Accordingly, the Court concludes that the Targets have standing to assert their
claim of privilege in this proceeding. See, e.g., United States v. Idema, 118 F. App’x 740 (4th Cir. 2005)
(“Ordinarily, a party does not have standing to challenge a subpoena issued to a nonparty unless the party claims
some personal right or privilege in the information sought by the subpoena.”); Langford v. Chrysler Motor Corp.,
513 F.2d 1121, 1126 (2d Cir. 1975) (“In the absence of a claim of privilege a party usually does not have standing to
object to a subpoena directed to a non-party witness.”); 9A Wright & Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure § 2459
(2017) (“Ordinarily a party has no standing to seek to quash a subpoena issued to someone who is not a party to the
action, unless the objecting party claims some personal right or privilege with regard to the documents sought.”
(internal quotation marks omitted)).
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Opp’n”) at 1, ECF No. 7. While not conceding, as a matter of law, that the government is
entitled to elicit from the Witness any information about her representation of the Targets,
including (1) “the source of the representations in the November 23, 2016 and February 10,
2017 letters” to DOJ, or (2) whether the Witness’s “clients saw the final letters before they were
sent to DOJ,” the Targets informed SCO that, “in order to avoid further litigation regarding these
issues,” the Targets consented to the government asking the Witness those questions in
connection with the two letters (i.e., (1) “Who gave you X information?” and (2) “Did [Target 1
or Target 2] see the final letter before it was sent to the FARA unit?”). ld. According to Target
2’s counsel, the SCO declined this offer.” Id.

On September 26, 2017, the SCO supplemented its ex parte proffer of evidence
supporting application of the crime-fraud exception, and a third and final hearing was held, as
requested by the counsel to the Targets. At this hearing, the SCO confirmed eight topics to be
posed to the Witness about portions of the 2017 and 2016 FARA submissions that the SCO
alleges are fraudulent or misleading:

1) “[W]ho are the sources of the specific factual representations in the November 2016 and
the February 2017 letters that [the Witness] sent to the FARA Registration Unit at DOJ?”

Hr’g Tr. (Sept. 26, 2017) (“Sept. 26 Tr.”) at 23:8—11, ECF No. 13-1

2) “Who are the sources of [Target Company’s] e-mail retention policy that was attached to

the November 2016 letter to the FARA Registration unit at DOJ?” Id. at 23:13-16;

3) “Whether --or if, [Target 2], [Target 1] or anyone else within [Target Company]

approved the [November 2016 or February 2017] letters before [the Witness] sent the two
letters to the FARA Registration Unit at DOJ?” Id. at 23:7-23;

5 The SCO explained the reason for declining to limit questions to those stipulated by the privilege holders,

stating that “[t]here was, in our view, an effort to narrow the questions.” Hr’g Tr. (Sept. 26, 2017) (“Sept. 26 Tr.”)
at 22:1-2, ECF No. 13-1. Further “unlike the privilege holders, we don't know what [the Witness] is going to say”
and SCO “wanted to . . . have the latitude to be able to ask the right questions.” 1d. at 22:6-9. Moreover, although
the SCO explained that generally “the same information” was sought under any of its theories, the SCO would likely
have “more latitude if there was a ruling with respect to the crime fraud” exception, id. at 22:10-13, since the kinds
of questions permissible to pose under the crime-fraud exception were “slightly broader” than under a waiver theory,
id. at 22:15-18. In short, the SCO expressed its interest in being “prepared for any follow-ups based on what [the
Witness] answers” to questions. Id. at 22:18-21.
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4) “For each of the sources that are identified in response to th[e] prior three questions, what
did the source say “to [the Witness] about the specific statement in the letter?” 1d. at
23:24-25, 24:1-3;8

5) “When” and “how” the Witness received communications from her clients, including
whether the conversations were by “phone, telephone, [or] e-mail[?]” 1d. at 25:14-25,
26:1;

6) “[D]id anyone raise any questions or corrections with respect to the letter[?]” Id. at
26:13-15;

7) “[D]id [the Witness] memorialize [the conversations with her clients] in any way?” Id. at
26:15-16;

8) Whether [the Witness] “was careful with submitting these representations to the
Department of Justice? And if that was her practice, to review the submissions with her
clients before she did so[?]” Id. at 26:12-20.7

The arguments by the SCO, Witness and privilege holders were taken under advisement and the
Court reserved decision.
II. ANALYSIS

The SCO is correct that a limited set of questions about the Witness’s representation of
Targets 1 and 2 and Target Company may be posed to the Witness in the grand jury because the
attorney-client and work product privileges have been vitiated by operation of both the crime-
fraud exception and implied waiver. Each of those exceptions are addressed seriatim below.

A. Crime-Fraud Exception

Following review of the legal principles governing the crime-fraud exception and the
SCQO’s ex parte submission, analysis of this basis for compelling the testimony of the Witness

before the grand jury is reviewed.

6 When the Court inquired as to whether the SCO intended to ask this fourth question, the SCO responded by
saying that SCO was not “planning on asking about those specific communications from the client” but confirmed
that they want to be “authorized to do that should [SCO] decide [to] want to pursue a follow up with that question.”
Sept. 26 Tr. at 24:4-14.

7 The SCO stated that it was not “presently” intending to ask the Witness for any of her notes, but assured the
Court that “[w]ithout any additional application to the Court, we wouldn’t ask [for] the notes from” the Witness.

See Sept. 26 Tr. at 27:14-21. The SCO disclaimed any plan to ask what the Witness “thought about what her clients
told her,” “what advice she gave to her clients,” or anything “about any of the clients’ communications to [the
Witness] about matters outside specific statements in the two letters[.]” Id. at 29:10-21.
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1. Overview of Crime-Fraud Exception

“The attorney-client privilege ‘is the oldest of the privileges for confidential
communications known to the common law,’” aiming “to encourage full and frank
communication between attorneys and their clients and thereby promote broader public interests
in the observance of law and administration of justice.” United States v. Jicarilla Apache
Nation, 564 U.S. 162, 169 (2011) (quoting Upjohn Co. v. United States, 449 U.S. 383, 389
(1981)). The privilege “applies to a confidential communication between attorney and client if
that communication was made for the purpose of obtaining or providing legal advice to the
client.” In re Kellogg Brown & Root, Inc., 756 F.3d 754, 757 (D.C. Cir. 2014).

The doctrine of the crime-fraud “[e]xception comes into play when a privileged
relationship is used to further a crime, fraud, or other fundamental misconduct.” In re Sealed
Case, 676 F.2d at 807. “Attorney-client communications are not privileged if they ‘are made in
furtherance of a crime, fraud, or other misconduct.”” In re Grand Jury, 475 F.3d 1299, 1305
(D.C. Cir. 2007) (quoting In re Sealed Case, 754 F.2d 395, 399 (D.C. Cir. 1985)). “To establish
the exception . . . the court must consider whether the client ‘made or received the otherwise
privileged communication with the intent to further an unlawful or fraudulent act,” and establish
that the client actually ‘carried out the crime or fraud.”” In re Sealed Case, 223 F.3d 775, 778
(D.C. Cir. 2000) (quoting In re Sealed Case, 107 F.3d 46, 49 (D.C. Cir. 1997)).

To satisfy its burden of proof as to the crime-fraud exception, the government may offer
“evidence that if believed by the trier of fact would establish the elements of an ongoing or
imminent crime or fraud.” In re Grand Jury, 475 F.3d at 1305 (internal quotation marks
omitted). It “need not prove the existence of a crime or fraud beyond a reasonable doubt.” In re

Sealed Case, 754 F.2d at 399. “The determination that a prima facie showing has been made lies
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within the sound discretion of the district court,” id. at 400, which must “independently explain
what facts would support th[e] conclusion” that the crime-fraud exception applies. Chevron
Corp. v. Weinberg Grp., 682 F.3d 96, 97 (D.C. Cir. 2012). The D.C. Circuit has “approved the
use of ‘in camera, ex parte proceedings to determine the propriety of a grand jury subpoena or
the existence of a crime-fraud exception to the attorney-client privilege when such proceedings
are necessary to ensure the secrecy of ongoing grand jury proceedings.”” In re Grand Jury
Subpoena, Judith Miller, 438 F.3d 1141, 1179 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (quoting In re Sealed Case No.
98-3077, 151 F.3d 1059, 1075 (D.C. Cir. 1998)). “[I]n camera, ex parte submissions generally
deprive one party to a proceeding of a full opportunity to be heard on an issue, and thus should
only be used where a compelling interest exists.” In re Sealed Case No. 98-3077, 151 F.3d at
1075 (internal citation and quotation marks omitted).
2. SCO’s Ex Parte Proffer

The SCO intends to ask the Witness about five distinct portions of the 2017 FARA
Submission, two of which portions are also reflected in the 2016 FARA Submission. See Hr’g
Tr. (ex parte)(Sept. 26, 2017) at 15:1-14. In its two declarations, submitted ex parte, the SCO
offers witness testimony and documentary evidence to show that these statements are false,
contain half-truths, or are misleading by omission. The veracity of these five portions of the
2017 FARA Submission are assessed before turning to the applicability of the crime-fraud
exception to the underlying communications that may have served as a basis for these five
statements contained in the Witness’s 2017 FARA Submission. The underlined portion of each
set of statements indicates the text that the SCO believes is “either false or constitutes a half-

truth.” Gov’t’s Ex Parte Suppl. Decl. of Brock W. Domin, Special Agent, Federal Bureau of
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Investigation, in Supp. of Gov’ts Showing of Crime Fraud (“Gov’t Ex Parte Suppl. Decl.”) q 6,
ECF No. 12-1.
a) “|Target Company’s] efforts on behalf of the Party of Regions

and Opposition Bloc did not include meetings or outreach within the
U.S.” 2017 FARA Subm’n at 2.

I he above statcrncnt s

false, a half-truth, or at least misleading because evidence shows that Target 1 and Target 2 were

intimately involved in significant outreach in the United States on behalf of the ECFMU, the

Party of Regions and/or the Ukrainian government. _



b) “|N]either [Target Company] nor [Target 1 or Target 2] had
any agreement with the ECFMU to provide services.” 2017 FARA
Subm’n at 2.

Although no evidence presented reflects any formal written contract between the Targets
and ECFMU, Target 1 and Target 2 clearly had an informal agreement with ECFMU to direct

the government relations and public affairs activities of GR Company 1 and GR Company 2, and

also to fund these activities.
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c) “[Target Company] did provide the ECFMU, at the request of
members of the Party of Regions, with a list of potential U.S.-based
consultants—including [GR Company 2 and GR Company 1]—for
the ECFMU’s reference and further consideration. ECFMU then
contracted directly with [GR Company 2] and [GR Company 1] to
provide services within the United States for which these entities
registered under the Lobbying Disclosure Act.” 2017 FARA Subm’n
at 2.

As the SCO puts it, the phrasing in this portion of the 2017 FARA Submission suggests

that the Targets “were little more than matchmakers” between ECFMU, GR Company 1, and GR

Company 2, _ when, in fact, both Target 1 and Target 2
played far more significant and continuing roles.® _

8 The 2016 FARA Submission also portrays the Targets’ involvement with ECFMU as limited, stating the
following: “With respect to the [ECFMU], [Target Company] did not have an agreement to provide services to the
ECFMU. Likewise, [Target 1 and Target 2] did not have an agreement to provide services to the ECFMU.
Furthermore, my Clients were not counterparties to any service agreement(s) between [GR Company 2], [GR
Company 1] and the ECFMU.” 2016 FARA Subm’n at 1.
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The 2017 FARA Submission attempts to paint the Targets as mere spectators in a game
when they actually were integral players. Far from mere matchmakers, the Targets were
significantly involved in U.S.-based advocacy efforts on behalf of ECFMU and the Ukrainian

government.
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d) “To [Target 2’s] recollection, these efforts included providing
policy briefings to the ECFMU and its consultants on Kkey initiatives
and political developments in Ukraine, including participation in
and/or coordination of related conference calls and meetings.
Although [Target 2] recalls interacting with ECFMU’s consultants
regarding efforts in the Ukraine and Europe, neither [Target 2] nor
[Target 1] recall meeting with or conducting outreach to U.S.
government officials or U.S. media outlets on behalf of the ECFMU,
nor do they recall being party to arranging, or facilitating any such
communications. Rather, it is the recollection and understanding of
[Targets 1 and 2] that such communications would have been
facilitated and conducted by the ECFMU’s U.S. consultants, as
directed by the ECFMU, pursuant to the agreement reached between
those parties (to which [Target Company] was not a party).” 2017
FARA Subm’n 2-3.

Based on the evidence already discussed, _

evidence confirming the level of regular contact by the Targets with the GR Companies, the

representation above that neither Target 1 nor Target 2 could recall “being party to, arranging, or

facilitating any such communications” with U.S. government officials or U.S. media outlets,

srains cecduty. |
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e) “With respect to other specific matters on which [Target 2]
interfaced with the ECFMU and its consultants, . . . [Target
Company’s] Email Retention Policy does not retain communications
bevond thirty days, and the information that would be contained in
such correspondence is vital to refreshing recollections regarding
these matters.” 2017 FARA Subm’n at 3.°

Both the 2016 and 2017 FARA Submissions refer to the Target Company’s undated
Email Retention Policy, which states that Target Company “does not retain communications

beyond thirty days.” 2016 FARA Subm’n at 1; 2017 FARA Subm’n at 3. |||

-3

The 2016 FARA Submission included a similar claim. See 2016 FARA Subm’n (“[A] search has been
conducted for correspondence containing additional information related to the matters described in your letters.
However, as a result of DMP’s Email Retention Policy, which does not retain communications beyond thirty days,
the search has returned no responsive communications.”).
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3. Conclusion
Through its ex parte production of evidence, the SCO has clearly met its burden of
making a prima facie showing that the crime-fraud exception applies by showing that the Targets
were “engaged in or planning a criminal or fraudulent scheme when [they] sought the advice of

counsel to further the scheme.” In re Grand Jury, 475 F.3d at 1305 (quoting In re Sealed Case,
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754 F.2d at 399); see also In re Sealed Case, 107 F.3d at 49 (same). This evidence establishes
that Target 1 and Target 2 likely violated federal law by making, or conspiring to make,
materially false statements and misleading omissions in their FARA Submissions, which may
constitute violations of, inter alia, 22 U.S.C. § 618(a)(2) (false or misleading statements and
omissions “in any . . . document filed with or furnished to the Attorney General” under FARA);
18 U.S.C. § 1001(a) (false statements to the executive branch); and 18 U.S.C. § 371 (conspiracy
to commit any offense against the United States or to defraud the United States). '
“Communications otherwise protected by the attorney-client privilege are not protected if
the communications are made in furtherance of a crime, fraud, or other misconduct.” In re
Sealed Case, 754 F.2d at 399. Generally, the crime-fraud exception reaches communications or
work product with a “relationship,” In re Sealed Case, 676 F.2d at 814—15 (opinion of Wright,
J.), to the crime or fraud. See In re Sealed Case, 754 F.2d 395, 399 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (requiring
“some relationship between the communication at issue and the prima facie violation). With
respect to work product protection, the crime-fraud exception applies where “some valid
relationship between the work product under subpoena and the prima facie violation™ is present.
In re Sealed Case, 676 F.2d at 814—15 (opinion of Wright, J.). The inquiry focuses on the
“client’s intent in consulting the lawyer or in using the materials the lawyer prepared.” In re
Sealed Case, 107 F.3d at 51. “The question is: Did the client consult the lawyer or use the

material for the purpose of committing a crime or fraud.” Id.

10 The list provided by the SCO of federal criminal statutes that would be violated by submission of false and

fraudulent or misleading representations to DOJ’s FARA unit in the course of its investigation whether a FARA
registration was required, is not exhaustive. See, e.g., 18 U.S.C. § 1519(criminalizing knowing conduct that
“conceals, covers up, falsifies, or makes a false entry in any record, document ...with the intent to impede, obstruct,
or influence the investigation or proper administration of any matter within the jurisdiction of any department or
agency of the United States”).
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Given the prima facie showing of crime, fraud, or misconduct with respect to the five

areas of false or misleading statements in the 2017 FARA Submission, the Witness may be

compelled to answer the following seven questions with respect to these statements:

1.

Who were the sources for each of the specific factual representations alleged to be
false or misleading in the submissions, dated November 23, 2016 and February
10, 2017, made by the Witness on behalf of her clients, Targets 1 and 2 and
Target Company, to the Foreign Agent Registration Act’s (“FARA”) Registration
Unit of the National Security Division of the U.S. Department of Justice?

Who were the sources of information regarding the Target Company’s email
retention policy that the Witness attached to the November 23, 2016 FARA
Submission?

Did Target 1, Target 2, or anyone else within the Target Company, if anyone,
approve the November 23, 2016 and February 10, 2017 FARA Submissions
before the Witness sent each such submission to the FARA Registration Unit at
the U.S. Department of Justice?

For each source of information identified in response to the prior three questions,
what did that source tell the Witness about the specific factual representations
alleged to be false or misleading in the November 23, 2016 and February 10, 2017
FARA Submissions?

When and how did the Witness receive communications from Target 1, Target 2,
or anyone else within Target Company regarding the specific factual
representations alleged to be false or misleading in the November 23, 2016 and
February 10, 2017 FARA Submissions?

Did Target 1 or Target 2, or anyone else within Target Company, raise any
questions or corrections with the Witness regarding the specific factual
representations alleged to be false or misleading in the November 23, 2016 and
February 10, 2017 FARA Submissions before the Witness sent those submissions
to the FARA Registration Unit at the U.S. Department of Justice?

Was it the Witness’s practice to review with her clients written submissions prior
to sending such submissions to the FARA Registration Unit at the U.S.
Department?

The first six questions call for answers regarding communications that have, at the very

least, “some relationship” with the “prima facie violation” of law. In re Sealed Case, 754 F.2d

395, 399 (D.C. Cir. 1985); see also In re Sealed Case, 676 F.2d at 814—15 (opinion of Wright, J.)
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(explaining that for the crime-fraud exception to apply to the work-product doctrine, there must
be “some valid relationship between the work product under subpoena and the prima facie
violation™).!! The final question calls for general information—not specific to the Witness’s
representation of any particular client—that does not fall within the scope of any privilege.

B. Implied Waiver of the Attorney-Client Privilege

The SCO also contends that the Targets impliedly waived the attorney-client privilege as
to the testimony sought from the Witness by disclosing the 2016 and 2017 FARA Submissions to
DOJ. The waiver extends to the Targets’ specific conversations with the Witness that were
released in substance to DOJ in these FARA Submissions.

1. Implied Waiver Generally

The scope of the implied waiver comports with the D.C. Circuit’s “adhere[nce] to a strict
rule on waiver of [the attorney-client] privilege[,]” requiring a privilege-holder to “zealously
protect the privileged materials” and “tak[e] all reasonable steps to prevent their disclosure.”
SEC v. Lavin, 111 F.3d 921, 929 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (quoting In re Sealed Case, 877 F.3d 976, 980
(D.C. Cir. 1989)). As such, “disclosure will waive the privilege.” In re Sealed Case, 877 F.3d at
980. A client waives the privilege by disclosing privileged information’s “substance . . . before
an investigative body at the pretrial stage.” White, 887 F.2d at 271; see also In re Subpoenas
Duces Tecum, 738 F.2d 1367, 1370 (D.C. Cir. 1984) (a client waives the privilege entirely as to
all “material that has been disclosed to [a] federal agency”); Permian Corp. v. United States, 665
F.2d 1214, 1219 (D.C. Cir. 1981) (a client “destroy[s] the confidential status of . . .

communications by permitting their disclosure to the SEC staff”). Waiver of the privilege

1 As discussed above, the SCO also seeks to also ask the Witness whether she “memorialized” any of her

communications with the Targets. The propriety of asking this question is addressed infra Part II.C.
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“extends to all other communications relating to the same subject matter.” In re Sealed Case, 29
F.3d 715, 719 (D.C. Cir. 1994); see also Williams & Connolly v. SEC, 662 F.3d 1240, 1244
(D.C. Cir. 2011) (“[One who] voluntarily discloses part of an attorney-client conversation . . .
may have waived confidentiality—and thus the attorney client privilege—for the rest of that
conversation and for any conversations related to the same subject matter.”); In re Sealed Case,
877 F.2d at 980-81 (“[ W]aiver of the privilege in an attorney-client communication extends ‘to
all other communications relating to the same subject matter.””” (quoting In re Sealed Case, 676
F.2d at 809)).

2. Analysis

Upon sending the FARA Submissions to DOJ, the Targets waived, through voluntary
disclosure, any attorney-client privilege in their contents.'> White, 887 F.2d at 271; In re
Subpoenas Duces Tecum, 738 F.2d at 1370; Permian Corp., 665 F.2d at 1219. In fact, the
FARA Submissions made specific factual representations to DOJ that are unlikely to have
originated from sources other than the Targets, and, in large part, were explicitly attributed to
one or both Targets’ recollections. !* See 2017 FARA Subm’n at 1-3; 2016 FARA Subm’n at 1—

2. Additionally, the Targets impliedly waived the privilege as to their communications with the

12 The government also argues that the attorney-client privilege never attached to the communications with

the Witness reflected in the FARA Submissions in the first place because the Targets intended to disclose the
information to DOJ from the outset. SCO Mot. at 1-2; SCO Suppl. Mem. in Supp. of Mot. (“SCO Suppl. Mem.”) at
4, ECF No. 11; see In re Sealed Case, 877 F.2d at 979 & n.4 (“[D]ata that [a client] intends to report [to the IRS] is
never privileged in the first place” so long as it does not “reveal directly the attorney’s confidential advice.”);
(Under Seal), 748 F.2d at 875; In re Grand Jury Proceedings, 727 F.2d 1352, 1356 (4th Cir. 1984); Naegele, 468 F.
Supp. 2d 165, 170 (D.D.C. 2007). This “conduit theory” need not be addressed, as the SCO’s motion to compel is
granted on alternative grounds.

13 Target 1 argues that the SCO has not shown that the 2016 FARA Submission contained representations
sourced to the Targets themselves rather than to publicly-available sources such as “media reports, or a corporate
registry or similar database,” Target 1 Opp’n at 5, but even a cursory review of this letter shows otherwise. The
2016 FARA Submission contained representations the Witness could not plausibly have gathered solely from
publicly-available sources, such as that the Targets had no agreement to provide the ECFMU services or were
counterparties to any service agreements between ECFMU and the GR Companies. See 2016 FARA Subm’n at 1.
The Targets repeated these representations in the 2017 FARA Submission. See 2017 FARA Subm’n at 2.
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Witness to the extent that these communications related to the FARA Submissions’ contents.
Williams & Connolly, 662 F.3d at 1244; In re Sealed Case, 29 F.3d at 719; In re Sealed Case,
877 F.2d at 980-81; In re Sealed Case, 676 F.2d at 809.

In re Sealed Case (1994) is instructive. There, the target, who was subject to a grand jury
investigation of his financial transactions with a foreign government, disclosed to the
government details about his conversations with a lawyer “in connection with” the transactions,
thereby waiving the privilege as to the disclosed conversations. 29 F.3d at 716—17. The
government “subpoenaed the [l]Jawyer to appear before the grand jury to testify and to produce
any and all documents relating to and/or generated as a result of discussions and/or consultation
with the” target, the target’s business partner, “and/or any representative or agent of”” a company
the target had created to accept payments from the foreign government. Id. at 717 (alterations
and internal quotation marks omitted). The D.C. Circuit determined that the target’s waiver
“extended to all conversations between the [l]Jawyer and him relating to the same subject matter,
specifically including documents in the case files,” as “the material sought has an obvious
relationship to the subject matter of [the target’s] admissions.” Id. at 719-20 (internal quotation
marks omitted). Here, the testimony sought from the Witness has a similarly “obvious
relationship” to the subject matter of the disclosures to DOJ. 1d.; see also In re Martin Marietta
Corp., 856 F.2d 619, 62324 (4th Cir. 1988) (holding that submission of a Position Paper by
counsel on behalf of the client urging the U.S. Attorney not to indict waived the privilege as to
“audit papers” and “witness statements” from which factual statements in the Position Paper
“were derived”). For these reasons, the attorney-client privilege does not prevent the SCO from
compelling the Witness’s testimony about the limited subjects already disclosed in the 2016 and

2017 FARA Submissions.
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C. The Work-Product Privilege

Even if the Targets impliedly waived the attorney-client privilege with respect to the
communications as to which the SCO seeks to compel the Witness’s testimony, the Targets are
partially correct that the work-product privilege would still apply. See Target 1 Opp’n at 5;
Target 2 Opp’n at 5-10. In the Targets’ view, the work-product privilege operates to block SCO
from compelling testimony from the Witness on all questions that the SCO seeks to pose. The
SCO’s proposed questions, however, with one exception, seek production only of fact work
product, which may be compelled upon a showing of adequate reasons.

1. The Work-Product Privilege Generally

The work-product privilege protects “material ‘obtained or prepared by an adversary’s
counsel’ in the course of his legal duties, provided that the work was done ‘with an eye toward
litigation.”” In re Sealed Case, 676 F.2d at 809 (quoting Hickman v. Taylor, 329 U.S. 495, 511
(1947)). This material includes the attorney’s “interviews, statements, memoranda,
correspondence, briefs, mental impressions,” and “personal beliefs.” Hickman, 329 U.S. at 511.
The work-product privilege affords greater protection to “opinion work product, which reveals
‘the mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of a party’s attorney or other
representative concerning the litigation,”” than to “fact work product, which does not.” FTC v.
Boehringer Ingelheim Pharm., Inc., 778 F.3d 142, 151 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (quoting FED. R. C1v. P.
26(b)(3)(B)). Fact work product is discoverable “upon showing a substantial need for the
materials and an undue hardship in acquiring the information any other way,” Dir., Office of
Thrift Supervision v. Vinson & EIlkins, LLP, 124 F.3d 1304, 1307 (D.C. Cir. 1997), a test we
equate with a requirement “to show ‘adequate reasons’ why the work product should be subject

to discovery,” Boehringer, 778 F.3d at 153 (quoting In re Sealed Case, 676 F.2d at 809).
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Opinion work product, in contrast, “is virtually undiscoverable.”'* Vinson & Elkins, 124 F.3d at
1307.

Where information “contains both opinion and fact work product, the court must examine
whether the factual matter may be disclosed without revealing the attorney’s opinions.”
Boehringer, 778 F.3d at 152. The D.C. Circuit has rejected “a virtually omnivorous view” of
opinion work product, cautioning that “not every item which may reveal some inkling of a
lawyer’s mental impressions . . . is protected as opinion work product.” 1d. at 151-52 (quoting
In re Sealed Case, 124 F.3d 230, 237 (D.C. Cir. 1997), rev’d on other grounds sub nom. Swidler
& Berlin v. United States, 524 U.S. 399 (1998); In re San Juan Dupont Plaza Hotel Fire Litig.,
859 F.2d 1007, 1015 (1st Cir. 1988)). Rather, information constitutes opinion work product only
if it “reflects the attorney’s focus in a meaningful way.” 1d. at 151. “[T]o convert [a] fact into
opinion work product . . . . there must be some indication that the lawyer ‘sharply focused or
weeded the materials.”” 1d. (quoting In re Sealed Case, 124 F.3d at 236).

2. Analysis

The Targets argue that the Witness’s testimony sought by the SCO calls for production of
opinion work product, and that the SCO has made no sufficient showing of necessity and burden
to overcome the privilege regardless of whether fact or opinion work product is to be disclosed.
In the Targets’ view, the work-product privilege attached to the information sought by the eight
questions the SCO proposes to pose to the Witness because those questions will elicit testimony

as to her communications with the Targets, including “statements” made during and her “mental

14 The SCO acknowledges that opinion work product withstands even the force of the crime fraud exception

to remain privileged unless the attorney knows of or participates in the crime or fraud. SCO Suppl. Mem. at 1 n.*
(citing In re Grand Jury Subpoena, No. 16-4096, 2017 WL 3567824, at *3 (4th Cir. Aug. 18, 2017)). Here, the
Witness was an unwitting participant in the crime alleged. See Sept. 26 Tr. at 20:13-23.
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impressions” of them. Hickman, 329 U.S. at 511. With one exception, discussed below, the
testimony the SCO seeks is fact work product only, not opinion work product, as the SCO’s
proposed inquiry would not require the Attorney do disclose her “personal beliefs,” id.,
“opinions,” or information that “reflects [her] focus in a meaningful way.” Boehringer, 778 F.3d
at 151.

The Targets rely on a recent Fourth Circuit decision holding that the question “What did
[the Witness] tell you?” sought opinion work product. In re Grand Jury Subpoena, No. 16-4096,
2017 WL 3567824, at *3 (4th Cir. Aug. 18, 2017). There, the government, after securing a
criminal defendant’s conviction, observed that an exhibit the defendant had introduced appeared
to be a forgery. Id. at *1. The defendant’s attorney gave the government a higher-quality copy
of the exhibit, which confirmed that the exhibit was in fact forged. Id. The government sought
to interview the attorney and her investigator, both of whom declined to be interviewed, and then
issued grand jury subpoenas compelling their testimony. ld. The attorney and investigator
invoked the work-product privilege and moved to quash. ld. The Fourth Circuit determined that
the government could ask two questions—*“(1) Who gave you the fraudulent documents?”” and
“(2) How did they give them to you, specifically?”—as these sought only fact work product, but
that a third question—*“(3) What did [a specific party under investigation] tell you?”—required
production of opinion work product. Id. at *1, **3—4 (alterations in original). “To answer this
question,” the Fourth Circuit reasoned, would require lawyers “to disclose their recollections of
witness statements and reveal what they deemed sufficiently important to remember from those
discussions.” 1d. at *3. This information “contain[s] the fruit of the attorney’s mental
processes,” the Fourth Circuit held, and thus “falls squarely within the category of . . . opinion

work product.” Id. (alterations and internal quotation marks omitted). In making this
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determination, the Fourth Circuit relied on Hickman, where the Supreme Court had deemed
improper under the work-product privilege a “functionally equivalent . . . interrogatory . . . which
asked the attorney to ‘set forth in detail the exact provisions of any such oral statements or
reports [from witnesses].”” 1d. (quoting Hickman, 329 U.S. at 499).

Judge Niemeyer, dissenting, described the panel’s assumption “regarding the nature of
memory” as “shaky,” noting the myriad factors at play in why an attorney might recall a
conversation with a client, including “[p]erhaps the attorney remembers what the Witness told her
about the document because she found it significant to her client’s defense . . . . [or] because the
Witness made a joke or was wearing an interesting shirt or used a strange turn of phrase[;] [o]r
maybe the attorney simply has a good memory and is able to relate accurately what was told to
her.” Id. at *7 (Niemeyer, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). Whatever the reason, “[t]he
grand jury will never know,” even though “[t]here thus remains an important difference between
an attorney’s present memory of a witness’s statement and her contemporaneous notes and
memoranda of a witness’s statement, which are written specifically to document the portions of
the statement that she considered relevant to her client’s case—i.e., what she ‘saw fit to write
down.” Only the latter provides a window into the attorney's thought process.” Id.

Judge Neimeyer’s analysis both is more persuasive and better comports with D.C. Circuit
work-product privilege jurisprudence, which rejects “a virtually omnivorous view” of opinion
work product, Boehringer, 778 F.3d at 152 (quoting In re Sealed Case, 124 F.3d at 237), than
that of the majority of the Fourth Circuit panel. The Fourth Circuit panel majority appears to
conflate as the same question asking “What did the client tell you?”” and “What of importance did
the client tell you?” These are different questions, and only the latter implicates opinion work

product.
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Boehringer is on point. The D.C. Circuit held there that documentary materials
“contain[ing] only factual information . . . . produced by non-lawyers . . . d[id] not reveal any
insight into counsel’s legal impressions or their views of the case” and thus was not opinion
work product, even though the information was “requested or selected by counsel.” 778 F.3d at
152. Here, the SCO seeks to compel the Witness to testify only as to “factual information”—that
the Witness may have selected which of the Targets’ disclosures to include in or omit from the
FARA Submissions does not bring the proposed testimony within the scope of opinion work
product protection. 1d.

In any event, Hickman is inapposite, as the Supreme Court did not characterize the
information sought as opinion work product—indeed, no such distinction between fact and
opinion work product was then recognized, as that doctrinal development occurred later. See
generally Hickman, 329 U.S. 495; see also In re Grand Jury Subpoena, No. 16-4096, 2017 WL
3567824, at *6 (Niemeyer, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (“In the years since
Hickman, courts have distinguished between ‘opinion work product’ and ‘fact work product’
when assessing the nature of the showing necessary to justify production of attorney work
product.”). Hickman, if anything, suggested that the material sought to be produced more
properly was characterized as fact than opinion work product by determining that the petitioner
had not made the requisite showing of necessity and undue hardship for discovery of fact work
product, but which showing is more or less irrelevant to discovery of opinion work product.
Hickman, 329 U.S. at 508-09; see also Vinson & Elkins, 124 F.3d at 1307.

Thus, the first six questions amount, if anything, to only fact work product. They each
seek only factual information—testimony as to the Witness’s mere “present memory of a

[client’s] statement,” id.—and thus do not require the Witness to reveal her “mental processes,”
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id. at *3. The mere fact that the Witness can recall things the Targets told her provides, by itself,
no “indication that [she] ‘sharply focused or weeded the materials.””” Boehringer, 778 F.3d at
152 (quoting In re Sealed Case, 124 F.3d at 236). At most, it reveals “some inkling of [the
Witness’s| mental impressions,” which itself is not “protected as opinion work product.” 1d. at
151 (quoting San Juan, 859 F.2d at 1015); see also id. at 152 (“[T]he mere fact that an attorney
had chosen to write a fact down [i]s not sufficient to convert that fact into opinion work
product.”). The eighth question does not seek work product at all, for reasons discussed supra
Part ILLA.6.

Without additional foundation, however, the SCO’s proposed seventh question—whether
the Witness “memorialize[d]” her conversations with the Targets regarding the FARA
Submissions, Sept. 26 Tr. at 26:15—-16—seeks opinion work product. While the mere fact that an
attorney can recall something her client told her does not necessarily “reveal what [she] deemed
sufficiently important to remember from those discussions,” In re Grand Jury Subpoena, No. 16-
4096, 2017 WL 3567824, at *3, as Judge Nieyemer ably explained, the fact that an attorney
memorialized, in writing or another form, particular client communications reveals her “thought
processes,” id. at *7 (Niemeyer, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part), by showing her
“focus in a meaningful way,” Boehringer, 778 F.3d at 151, particularly if the attorney only
recorded a client’s communication that she considered significant in some way. In that
circumstance, an attorney’s “contemporaneous notes and memoranda of a [client’s] statement . . .
provides a window into [her] thought process” precisely because they show “that she
considered” the statement “relevant to her client’s case” and “saw fit to write [them] down.” In
re Grand Jury Subpoena, No. 16-4096, 2017 WL 3567824, at *7 (Nieyemer, concurring in part

and dissenting in part) (internal quotation marks omitted).
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Thus, with the exception of the seventh question, the SCO seeks to compel production of
fact work product only, and thus must show “a substantial need for the materials and an undue
hardship in acquiring the information any other way.” Vinson & Elkins, 124 F.3d at 1307. This,
in turn, requires a showing only that “adequate reasons” exist to compel the Witness’s testimony.
Boehringer, 778 F.3d at 153 (quoting In re Sealed Case, 676 F.2d at 809). The SCO has
satisfied this burden here by showing that any protected material is relevant to establishing
criminal activity, as already explained supra Part II.A, and that the only other persons who
plausibly could describe the Witness’s communications with the Targets are the Targets
themselves, who likely would be unwilling to testify before the grand jury, for obvious reasons.

Target 2 disputes whether the SCO can demonstrate substantial need for the Witness’s
testimony, asserting that the SCO already has the FARA Submissions, which purported to be
written on the Targets’ behalves, as well as evidence of inconsistencies between the FARA
Submissions’ representations and the Targets’ behavior, see Gov’t Ex Parte Decl.; Gov’t Ex
Parte Suppl. Decl., and thus that the SCO seeks merely “corroborative evidence.” Suppl. Target
2 Opp’n at 7-8. The Court disagrees. The Witness’s testimony would not be merely
corroborative because the SCO does not possess direct evidence that the Targets knew of or
approved the FARA Submissions’ contents before the Witness disclosed them to DOJ, nor can
the SCO plausibly obtain such evidence from sources other than the Witness or the Targets
themselves. For these reasons, the work-product privilege does not prevent the SCO from
compelling the Witness’s testimony.

* * %
To summarize, the SCO may pose to the Witness the first six and eighth proposed

questions. The first six questions seek testimony that (1) falls within the scope of the crime-
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fraud exception, (2) is unprotected by the attorney-client privilege, which the Targets have
impliedly waived as to the information targeted by those questions, and (3) constitutes fact work
product, which the SCO overcomes by showing adequate reasons. The eighth question seeks
testimony that neither the attorney-client nor work-product privileges shield from disclosure at
all. The seventh question seeks opinion work product, and the SCO has not made the
extraordinary showing necessary to justify posing it, nor shown (or even alleged, see SCO Suppl.
Mem. at 1 n.*) that the Witness knew of or participated in the Targets’ crimes, a precondition to
compelling production of opinion work product under the crime-fraud exception.
III. CONCLUSION

The SCO’s motion to compel the Witness’s testimony is granted. The SCO may compel
the Witness to answer seven of the eight questions enumerated at the September 26, 2017
hearing. The SCO is directed, by October 3, 2017, to review this Memorandum Opinion and
propose to the Court any redactions that should be made prior to making the opinion available
under seal to the Witness and privilege holders. The order will be stayed until October 4, 2017,
on which date, if not earlier, the Witness and privilege holders will be provided a copy of this
Memorandum Opinion, with any necessary redactions, under seal. The Witness or the privilege-
holders may seek a further stay of this Order pending any appeal.

An appropriate Order, which is filed under seal, accompanies this Memorandum Opinion.

4 ” Y W

BERYL A. HOWELL
Chief Judge

Date: October 2, 2017
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